





At Glenmere we are GREAT! Because

Grow, Respect, Enjoy, Achieve

<u>Together</u>

Behaviour Policy

Date policy last reviewed:	July 2023	
Signed by:		
	Headteacher	Date:
	Chair of governors	Date:

Contents:

Statement of intent

- 1. Legal Framework
- 2. Roles and responsibilities
- 3. Definitions
- 4. Prohibited sexual harassment
- 5. Prevention strategies, intervention, and sanctions for unacceptable behaviour
- 6. Prohibited Items, searching pupils and confiscation
- 7. Golden Rules
- 8. Extreme Behaviour
- 9. Extra-Curricular
- 10. Children with Special Educational Needs
- 11. Praise
- 12. Rewards
- 13. Physical Intervention
- 14. Removal from the classroom
- 15. Behaviour outside of school
- 16. suspension
- 17. Exclusions
- 18. Suspending and excluding Pupils with disabilities and Special Educational Needs (SEN) including those with Education, Health and Care plans (EHC plans).
- 19. Pupils who have a social worker, including looked-after children, and previously looked-after children that are at risk of suspension or exclusion.
- 20. Pupil Transitions
- 21. Staff Development and Support
- 22. Record Keeping and monitoring
- 23. Monitoring and Review

Appendices

Statement of intent

Glenmere believes that, in order to facilitate teaching and learning, acceptable behaviour mustbe demonstrated in all aspects of school life.

The school acknowledges that behaviour can sometimes be the result of educational

needs, mental health issues, or other needs or vulnerabilities, and will address these needs via an individualised graduated response.

The school is committed to:

- Promoting desired behaviour.
- Promoting self-esteem, self-discipline, proper regard for authority, and positiverelationships based on mutual respect.
- Ensuring equality and fair treatment for all.
- Praising and rewarding good behaviour.
- Challenging and disciplining misbehaviour.
- Providing a safe environment free from disruption, violence, discrimination, bullyingand any form of harassment.
- Encouraging positive relationships with parents.
- Developing positive relationships with pupils to enable early intervention.
- A shared approach which involves pupils in the implementation of the school's policyand associated procedures.
- Promoting a culture of praise and encouragement in which all pupils can achieve.

To help reduce the likelihood of behavioural issues related to social, emotional or mental health (SEMH), the school aims to create a safe and calm environment in which positive mental health and wellbeing are promoted and pupils are taught to be resilient. The school aims to promote resilience as part of a whole-school approach using the following methods:

- Culture, ethos and environment the health and wellbeing of pupils and staff is promoted through the informal curriculum, including leadership practice, policies, values and attitudes, alongside the social and physical environment
- Teaching the curriculum is used to develop pupils' knowledge about health and wellbeing
- Community engagement the school proactively engages with parents, outside agencies and the wider community to promote consistent support for pupils' health and wellbeing

Where vulnerable pupils or groups are identified, provision will be made to support and promote their positive mental health. The school's Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) Policy outlines the specific procedures that will be used to assess these pupils for any SEMH-related difficulties that could affect their behaviour.

1.Legal framework

This policy has due regard to all relevant legislation and statutory guidance including, but not limited to, the following:

- Education Act 1996
- Education Act 2002
- Equality Act 2010
- Education and Inspections Act 2006
- Health Act 2006
- Voyeurism (Offences) Act 2019
- The School Information (England) Regulations 2008
- DfE (2016) 'Behaviour and discipline in schools'
- DfE (2023) 'Keeping children safe in education 2021'
- DfE (2022) 'Sexual violence and sexual harassment between children in schools and colleges'
- DfE (2018) 'Mental health and behaviour in schools'
- DfE (2015) 'Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years'
- DfE (2013) 'Use of reasonable force'
- DfE (2022) 'Suspension and Permanent Exclusion from maintained schools, academies and pupil referral units in England, including pupil movement'
- DfE (2018) 'Searching, screening and confiscation'
- DfE (2022) 'Suspension and Permanent Exclusion from maintained schools, academies and pupil referral units in England, including pupil movement'

This policy operates in conjunction with the following school policies:

- Pupil Code of Conduct
- Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) Policy
- Complaints Procedures Policy
- Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Policy
- Suspension and Exclusion Policy
- Physical Intervention Policy
- Child-on-child Abuse Policy
- Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy
- Smoke-free Policy
- Pupil Drug and Alcohol Policy
- Searching, Screening and Confiscation Policy
- Anti-bullying Policy

2.Roles and responsibilities

The governing board has overall responsibility for:

- The monitoring and implementation of this policy and of the behaviour procedures at the school. This includes the policy's effectiveness in addressing any SEMH-related drivers of poor behaviour.
- Ensuring that this policy, as written, does not discriminate on any grounds, including, but not limited to, age, disability, gender reassignment, gender identity, marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
- Promoting a whole-school culture where calm, dignity and structure encompass everyspace and activity.
- Handling complaints regarding this policy, as outlined in the school's Complaints Procedures Policy.

The headteacher is responsible for:

- Establishing the standard of behaviour expected by pupils at the school.
- Determining the school rules and any disciplinary sanctions for breaking the rules.
- The day-to-day implementation of this policy.
- Publishing this policy and making it available to staff, parents and pupils at least oncea year.
- Reporting to the governing board on the implementation of this policy, including its effectiveness in addressing any SEMH-related issues that could be driving disruptive behaviour.

Mental health lead is responsible:

- Overseeing the whole-school approach to mental health, including how this is reflected in this policy, how staff are supported with managing pupils with SEMHrelated behavioural difficulties, and how the school engages pupils and parents with regards to the behaviour of pupils with SEMH difficulties.
- Supporting behaviour management in line with the Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) Policy.

The SENCO is responsible for:

 Collaborating with the governing board, headteacher and the mental health lead, as part of the SLT, to determine the strategic development of behaviour and SEMH policies and provisions in the school.

- Undertaking day-to-day responsibilities for the successful operation of the behaviour and SEMH policies to support pupils with SEND, in line with the school's Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Policy.
- Supporting teachers in the further assessment of a pupil's strengths and areas for improvement and advising on the effective implementation of support.

Teaching staff are responsible for:

- Planning and reviewing support for pupils with behavioural difficulties in collaboration with parents, the SENCO and, where appropriate, the pupils themselves.
- Aiming to teach all pupils the full curriculum, whatever their prior attainment.
- Planning lessons to address potential areas of difficulty to ensure that there are no barriers to every pupil achieving their full potential, and that every pupil with behavioural difficulties will be able to study the full national curriculum.
- Being responsible and accountable for the progress and development of the pupils in their class.

All members of staff, including teaching and support staff, and volunteers are responsible for:

- Adhering to this policy.
- Supporting pupils in adhering to this policy.
- Promoting a supportive and high-quality learning environment.
- Modelling high levels of behaviour.
- Being aware of the signs of behavioural difficulties.
- Setting high expectations for every pupil.
- Being aware of the needs, outcomes sought, and support provided to any pupils with specific behavioural needs.
- Keeping the relevant figures of authority up-to-date with any changes in behaviour. The relevant figures of authority include:
 - SENCO.
 - Headteacher.
 - Subject leader.
- As authorised by the headteacher, disciplining pupils who display poor levels of behaviour. This responsibility includes the power to discipline pupils even when they are not in school or in the charge of a member of staff.

Pupils are responsible for:

- Their own behaviour both inside school and out in the wider community.
- Reporting any unacceptable behaviour to a member of staff.

Parents are responsible for:

Supporting their child in adhering to the school rules.

Informing the school of any changes in circumstances which may affect their child's behaviour

3.Definitions

For the purposes of this policy, the school defines "serious unacceptable behaviour" as any behaviour which may cause harm to oneself or others, damage the reputation of the school within the wider community, and/or any illegal behaviour. This includes, but is not limited to, the following:

- **Discrimination** not giving equal respect to an individual on the basis of age, disability, gender identity, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation
- **Harassment** behaviour towards others which is unwanted, offensive and affects the dignity of the individual or group of individuals
- **Vexatious behaviour** deliberately acting in a manner so as to cause annoyance or irritation
- **Bullying** a type of harassment which involves personal abuse or persistent actions which humiliate, intimidate, frighten or demean the individual being bullied. This is not the same as a conflict between two children.
- **Cyberbullying** the use of electronic communication to bully a person, typically by sending messages of an intimidating or threatening nature
- Possession of legal or illegal drugs, alcohol or tobacco
- Possession of banned items
- Truancy and running away from school
- Refusing to comply with disciplinary sanctions
- Theft
- Verbal abuse, including swearing, racist remarks and threatening language
- Fighting and aggression
- Persistent disobedience or destructive behaviour
- Extreme behaviour, such as violence and serious vandalism
- Any behaviour that threatens safety or presents a serious danger
- Any behaviour that seriously inhibits the learning of pupils
- Any behaviour that requires the immediate attention of a staff member

For the purposes of this policy, the school defines "low-level unacceptable behaviour" as any behaviour which may disrupt the education of the perpetrator and/or other pupils, including, but not limited to, the following:

- Lateness
- Low-level disruption and talking in class
- Failure to complete classwork
- Rudeness
- Lack of correct equipment
- Refusing to complete homework, incomplete homework, or arriving at school without homework
- Disruption on public transport
- Use of mobile phones without permission
- Graffiti

"Low-level unacceptable behaviour" may be escalated to "serious unacceptable behaviour", depending on the severity of the behaviour.

• Any behaviour that requires the immediate attention of a staff member

4.Prohibited sexual harassment and discrimination

The school prohibits all forms of sexual discrimination including sexual harassment, gender-based bullying, child on child abuse and sexual violence.

Types of conduct that are prohibited in the school and may constitute sexual harassment under this policy include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Unwelcome sexual flirtations or propositions, invitations or requests for sexual activity
- Sexual comments, such as making lewd comments or sexual remarks about clothing and appearance, and calling someone sexualised names
- Sexual "jokes" or taunting, threats, verbal abuse, derogatory comments or sexually degrading descriptions
- Unwelcome communication that is sexually suggestive, degrading or implies sexual intentions, including written, verbal, online, etc.
- Physical behaviour, such as deliberately brushing against, grabbing, massaging or stroking an individual's body
- Taking, displaying, or pressuring individuals into taking photos of a sexual nature

- Exposing, or causing exposure of, underclothing, genitalia, or other body parts that arenormally covered by an individual, through means including, but not limited to, mooning, streaking, "up skirting", "down blousing", or flashing
- Purposefully cornering or hindering an individual's normal movements
- Engaging in the improper use of school-owned devices and the internet including, butnot limited to, the following:
- Participating in sexual discussions through email, chat rooms, instant messaging, social media, mobile phone or tablet apps, or any other form or electronic communication

The school will respond promptly and appropriately to any sexual harassment complaints in line with the Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy; appropriate steps will be taken to stopthe harassment and prevent any reoccurrence. Discipline for incidents of any type of sexual harassment will be determined based on the nature of the case, the ages of those involved and any previous related incidents.

The school will address the effects of harassment and will provide counselling services for victims.

5. Prevention strategies, intervention, and sanctions for unacceptable behaviour

This section outlines the school's strategies for preventing unacceptable behaviour and initial interventions, minimising the severity of incidents, and using sanctions and support effectively and appropriately to improve pupils' behaviour in the future.

Initial interventions

A range of initial intervention strategies to help pupils manage their behaviour and reduce the likelihood of more severe sanctions will be used. Support will consider the pupil's specific needs and may be delivered outside of the classroom, in small groups or in one-to-one activities. A system will be in place to ensure relevant members of the SLT and pastoral staff are aware of any pupil that is:

- Persistently misbehaving
- Not improving their behaviour following low-level sanctions
- Displaying a sudden change in behaviour from previous patterns of behaviour

Examples of initial interventions to address misbehaviour will include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Frequently engaging with parents, including home visits where necessary
- Providing mentoring and coaching
- Short-term behaviour report cards
- Long-term behaviour plans

- Pupil support units
- Engagement with local partners and agencies
- Friendship groups
- ELSA support
- Where the pupil has SEND, an assessment of whether appropriate provision is in place to support the pupil, and if the pupil has an EHC plan, contact with the LA to consider a review of the plan

A multi-agency assessment, such an early help assessment, that goes beyond a pupil's education will be considered where serious concerns about a pupil's behaviour exist.

6. Prohibited items, searching pupils and confiscation

Headteachers and staff authorised by them have a statutory power to search pupils or their possessions, without consent, where they have reasonable grounds for suspecting that the pupil may have a prohibited item. The prohibited items are:

- Knives or weapons.
- Alcohol.
- Illegal drugs.
- Stolen items.
- Tobacco and cigarette papers.
- Fireworks.
- Pornographic images.
- Any article that the member of staff reasonably suspects has been, or is likely to be, used:
 - To commit an offence; or
 - To cause personal injury to any person, including the pupil themselves; or
 - To damage the property of any person, including the pupil themselves.

All members of staff can use their power to search without consent for any of the items listed above. Staff will follow the provisions outlined in the school's Searching, Screening and Confiscation Policy when conducting searches and confiscating items.

The headteacher and other authorised members of staff are permitted to use reasonable force when conducting a search without consent for certain prohibited items, in line with the school's Physical Intervention Policy.

7.Golden Rules

At Glenmere we follow the following systems:

Our Golden Rules:

- 1. Do be gentle Do not hurt anybody
- 2. Do be kind and helpful Do not hurt the feelings of others
- 3. Do work hard Do not waste our own or others' time
- 4. Do look after property Do not waste or damage things
- 5. Do listen to people Do not interrupt
- 6. Do be honest Do not cover up the truth

Classroom rules:

- 1. Respect all adults in your classroom
- 2. Sit appropriately on the carpet or at tables
- 3. Put up your hand rather than call out
- 4. Listen and follow instructions promptly
- 5. Ask permission to leave the classroom
- 6. Follow your own classes rules

Children will be expected to follow the classroom rules. At the start of the year each class may also add some of their own rules. Where children disrupt lessons and informal/formal warnings given, a child may miss part or all of their playtime.

In class if a child's behaviour leads to the child not finishing enough of their work, the childmay be kept in to complete the work or the work may be sent home

What happens when a child breaks the rules?

- Children may be asked to apologise verbally or in writing.
- A child may be asked to sit out of an activity for a period of time.
- A child may miss some of their golden time
- A child may be sent to another class for some time out.
- A child may be sent to the head teacher
- A child may stand at the fence for part of break or dinner time
- A child may have work from a lesson sent home.
- A child may be asked to write an apology letter.

Yellow cards

- A yellow card may be issued if a child consistently breaks the same rules.
- A child hits somebody with the intention of hurting them.
- Any physical act that is deemed by staff to be malicious.
- A deliberate act of rudeness

- Spitting intentionally at others
- The use of inappropriate language to others
- Deliberately breaking school property
- An incident where a child lies and wastes staff time when finding out the truth about an incident

If a child is issued with a yellow card, there will be a note made of this in the head teacher's behaviour log and on CPOMS. The class teacher will discuss the yellow card either through a phone call or a through a discussion at the end of the school day.

The head teacher will not need to see the parents/guardian about this.

The head teacher or Deputy head teacher will only need to see the parents/guardian of achild that has been issued with more than 1 yellow card in a half term.

The Yellow card sent home will state clearly which rules have been broken and parents/carers will be expected to discuss this with their child before coming back into school.

Persistent rule breaking

If a child persistently breaks the rules in class or at playtime, the class teacher will arrange a meeting with the parents. A behaviour chart or plan may be put into place for a short period of time.

Red cards

Red cards can be issued when staff feel any of the incidents in the yellow card section are taken to a more severe level. A red card will be given for provoked or unprovoked behavior.

- A child hits somebody with the intention of hurting them.
- Any physical act that is deemed by staff to be malicious.
- A deliberate act of rudeness
- Spitting intentionally at others
- The use of inappropriate language to others
- Deliberately breaking school property
- An incident where a child lies and wastes staff time when finding out the truth about an incident

The red card is given if the member of staff deems that these acts of behavior are more severe than what would be considered for a yellow card. After a red card a child may also miss play time or Golden time and be asked to write a letter of apology.

The red card sent home will state clearly which rules have been broken and parents/carers will be expected to discuss this with their child before coming back into school. A red card will mean that parents need to make an appointment with the head teacher or deputy headteacher to discuss it further. A record of all cards will also be kept in school and red cards will be reported on the child's end of year report. All incidents involving red or yellow cars will be recorded on CPOMS. Repeated red cards during the same term will lead to a meeting to discuss whether a suspension is necessary.

Dinner time rules

If any of the golden rules are broken at dinner time a child may be asked to stand against the fence for a period of time.

The same rules for yellow and red cards apply at dinner times and break times.

If a child continuously breaks rules at break and dinner time, it may result in them being kept inside for a period of time.

If a child's behaviour is deemed to be unsafe at dinnertime to themselves or others it may be arranged with the parents for the child to go home.

8.Extreme behaviour

Any act of extreme physical or verbal aggression will not be tolerated during any time of theschool day. An extreme attack on another child, whether provoked or unprovoked, will always result in a red card being given and parents being informed. The child may then be asked to stay in at dinner and break for up to a week to reflect on this extreme behavior. Any act of aggression towards a member of staff will result in an instant red card, a phone call to parents and the child removed from the class for the rest of the day. Exclusion may also be considered.

9.During extra-curricular

School trips

If a child runs out of lessons, demonstrates behaviour that makes them unsafe or has demonstrated behaviour that is unsafe towards others, then a decision may be made not to take the child on the school trip. This would be decided by the Head teacher and senior management in conjunction with the parents or guardians of the child.

After school clubs

Children who misbehave or disrupt school run voluntary clubs will be warned initially. Continued disruption will result in them not being allowed to continue with the club and parents will be informed. Disruption at paid clubs will be dealt with by the coach in charge and measures taken will be discussed with the school staff.

10. Children with Special Educational Needs

Children with special needs who exhibit behavioural outbursts will have a Behaviour Plan. Where there are outbursts of extreme behaviour, which affects the learning of other childrenor puts anyone in danger of being harmed, two members of staff will escort the child to a safe, quiet area and hold until calm. Holding will only ever be used as a last resort and where possible handled by staff who are trained in the Team Teach method of physical restraint (see Positive Handling Policy). All such incidents will be clearly recorded. Parents would then be informed and asked to come into school to discuss the incident.

Where extreme behaviour persists and puts a child in danger of being excluded, specialist input will be sought from outside agencies and a special meeting will be called to put measures into place to avoid this outcome. All efforts will be made by the school to keep the child from exclusion and parents will be fully involved with this process, but the safety and wellbeing of staff and other pupils will always be of paramount importance.

11.Praise

The school recognises that praise is key to making pupils feel valued and ensuring that their work and efforts are celebrated. Whilst it is important to receive praise from teachers, the school also understands that peer praise is effective for creating a positive and fun environment, and value amongst pupils.

When giving praise, teachers ensure:

- They define the behaviour that is being rewarded.
- The praise is given immediately following the desired behaviour.
- The way in which the praise is given is varied.
- Praise is related to effort, rather than only to work produced.
- Perseverance and independence are encouraged.
- Teachers ensure that praise is not given continuously without reason and only when apupil's efforts, work or behaviour need to be recognised.
- Praise that is given is always sincere and is never followed with immediate criticism.
- Teachers encourage pupils to praise one another, and praise another pupil to the teacher, if they see them modelling good behaviour

12.Rewards

The school understands that when rewards are used following certain behaviour, pupils are more likely to model the same behaviour again. For rewards to be effective, the school recognises that they need to be:

- **Immediate** immediately rewarded following good behaviour.
- **Consistent** consistently rewarded to maintain the behaviour.
- **Achievable** keeping rewards achievable to maintain attention and motivation.
- Fair making sure all pupils are fairly rewarded

The school uses three different categories of rewards – these are:

- **Social** praise and recognition, e.g. a positive phone call or email home.
- **Physical** material rewards, e.g. tokens, stickers or certificates.
- Activity activity-based rewards, eg, DVD afternoon

Each class has their own reward system and all classes also use Do Jo points. Values tokens will also be given for positive evidence of the school's values-based education.

13 Physical intervention

In line with the school's Physical Intervention Policy, <u>trained members of staff</u> will have the legal right to use reasonable force to prevent pupils from committing an offence, injuring themselves or others, or damaging school property, and to maintain good order and discipline in the classroom.

Physical restraint will only be used as a last resort and as a method of restraint. Staff members will use their professional judgement of the incident to decide whether physical intervention is necessary. The situations in which physical restraint may be appropriate are detailed in the Physical Intervention Policy. Wherever possible, staff will ensure that a second member of staff is present to witness the physical intervention used.

After an instance of physical intervention, the pupil will be immediately taken to the headteacher, and the pupil's parent will be contacted. Where appropriate, the headteacher may decide to temporarily remove the pupil from the school via a suspension, in line with the DfE's guidance on 'Suspension and Permanent Exclusion'. Where suspension is carried out, the pupil's parent will be asked to collect the pupil and take them home for the rest of the day – pupils will not be sent home without the school contacting their parent. Physical intervention will be recorded on CPOMS.

Any violent or threatening behaviour will not be tolerated by the school and may result in a fixed-term exclusion in the first instance. It is at the discretion of the headteacher as to what behaviour constitutes for an exclusion, in line with the Suspension and Exclusion Policy.

When using reasonable force in response to risks presented by incidents involving pupils with SEND or medical conditions, staff will recognise and consider the vulnerability of these groups.

14.Removal from the classroom

The school may decide to remove pupils from the classroom for a limited period, at the instruction of a member of staff. The child may also be removed for a period of time and work in another classroom in the school.

The pupil will be moved to a room that is:

- In an appropriate area of the school
- Stocked with appropriate resources
- Suitable to learn and refocus
- Supervised by trained members of staff

The school will only remove pupils from the classroom where absolutely necessary and for the following reasons:

- To maintain the safety of all pupils and restore stability following an unreasonably high level of disruption
- To enable disruptive pupils to be taken to a place where education can continue in a managed environment
- To allow the pupil to regain calm in a safe space

The school will ensure that pupils' health and safety is not compromised during their time away from the classroom, and that any additional requirements, such as SEND needs, are met.

The amount of time that a pupil spends removed from the classroom will be up to the school to decide. This could be for more than one school day. The school will ensure that the pupil is not removed from the classroom any longer than necessary.

The staff member in charge and supervising the pupil will decide what the pupil may and may not do during their time spent removed from the classroom. The headteacher will request that the pupil's class teachers set them appropriate work to complete.

The headteacher will establish a clear process for the reintegration of a pupil who has been removed from the classroom when it is deemed appropriate and safe for them to return. Consideration will be given to what support is needed to help the pupil return and meet the expected standards of behaviour. Reintegration meetings will be held between the school, pupil and their parents, and other agencies if relevant, where necessary.

Pupils will be permitted to eat during the allocated times of the school day and may use the toilet as required.

15.Behaviour outside of school premises

Pupils at the school must agree to represent the school in a positive manner.

Staff can discipline pupils for misbehaviour outside of the school premises, including conduct online, when the pupil is:

- Wearing school uniform.
- Travelling to or from school.
- Taking part in any school-related activity.
- In any way identifiable as being a pupil at the school.

Staff may also discipline pupils for misbehaviour outside the school premises, including conduct online, that:

- Could negatively affect the reputation of the school.
- Could pose a threat to another pupil, a member of staff at the school, or a member of the public.
- Could have repercussions for the orderly running of the school.

Any bullying witnessed outside of the school premises and reported to the school will be dealt with in accordance with the Anti-bullying Policy.

The school will impose the same sanctions for bullying incidents and non-criminal misbehaviour witnessed or reported outside of the school premises as would be imposed for the same behaviour conducted on school premises. In all cases of unacceptable behaviour outside of the school premises, staff will only impose sanctions once the pupil has returned to the school premises or when under the supervision of a member of staff.

Complaints from members of the public about the behaviour of pupils from the school are taken very seriously and will be dealt with in accordance with the Complaints Procedures Policy.

16.Suspension

Only the headteacher has the power to suspend or exclude a pupil from the school, and is able to decide whether either a suspension or exclusion is appropriate. All suspensions and exclusions will only be issued on disciplinary grounds.

This government supports headteachers in using suspension and permanent exclusion as a sanction when warranted as part of creating a calm, safe, and supportive environment in which pupils can learn and thrive. To achieve this, suspension and permanent exclusion are sometimes a necessary part of a functioning system, where it is accepted that not all pupil behaviour can be amended or remedied by pastoral processes, or consequences within the school.

The school will only suspend or exclude a pupil where it is absolutely necessary, and where all other possible disciplinary sanctions, as detailed in the school's Behaviour Policy, have failed to be successful.

The following examples of behaviour may underline the school's decision to suspend or exclude a pupil for any of the following incidents, whether provoked or unprovoked.

- Any incident which poses a risk to other pupils or members of staff, e.g. bringing a weapon onto the premises
- Any incident which breaches the law
- Persistent and severe bullying
- Verbal and physical abuse
- Constant disruption
- A single, serious and major incident, e.g. serious assault on another individual leading to injury

A suspension, is where a pupil is temporarily removed from the school.

A pupil may be suspended for one or more fixed periods14 (up to a maximum of 45 school days in a single academic year). A suspension does not have to be for a continuous period.

A suspension may be given for extreme verbal or physical behavior that is provoked or unprovoked and deemed to be dangerous or offensive to staff or pupils.

A suspension can also be for parts of the school day. For example, if a pupil's behaviour at lunchtime is disruptive, they may be suspended from the school premises for the duration of the lunchtime period.

Lunchtime suspensions are counted as half a school day in determining whether a governing board meeting is triggered.

A lunch time suspension maybe given for extreme behavior such as violent or extreme verbal or physical aggression, whether it be provoked or unprovoked.

A lunch time suspension maybe given if there is repeated rule breaking at lunch.

A suspension may be used to provide a clear signal of what is unacceptable behaviour as part of the school's behaviour policy and show a pupil that their current behaviour is putting them at risk of permanent exclusion.

Where suspensions are becoming a regular occurrence for a pupil, the headteacher will consider whether suspension alone is an effective sanction for the pupil and whether additional strategies need to be put in place to address behaviour.

During a suspension, pupils will still receive their education. The headteacher will take steps to ensure that work is set and marked for pupils during the first five school days of a suspension. This can include utilising any online pathways such as Google Classroom or Oak National Academy.

The school's legal duties to pupils with disabilities or special educational needs will remain in force, for example, to make reasonable adjustments in how we support disabled pupils during this period. Any time a pupil is sent home due to disciplinary reasons and asked to

log on or utilise online pathways will always be recorded as a suspension.

The law does not allow for extending a suspension or 'converting' a suspension into a permanent exclusion. In exceptional cases, usually where further evidence has come

17. Exclusions (full guidance is in suspension and exclusion policy)

Only the headteacher has the power to suspend or exclude a pupil from the school, and is able to decide whether either a suspension or exclusion is appropriate. All suspensions and exclusions will only be issued on disciplinary grounds.

This government supports headteachers in using suspension and permanent exclusion as a sanction when warranted as part of creating a calm, safe, and supportive environment in which pupils can learn and thrive. To achieve this, suspension and permanent exclusion are sometimes a necessary part of a functioning system, where it is accepted that not all pupil behaviour can be amended or remedied by pastoral processes, or consequences within the school.

The headteacher retains the power to exclude pupils on disciplinary grounds – all exclusions and their arrangements are carried out in line with the Exclusions Policy.

A permanent exclusion is when a pupil is no longer allowed to attend a school (unless the pupil is reinstated). The decision to exclude a pupil permanently should only be taken:

• in response to a serious breach or persistent breaches of the school's behaviour policy; and where allowing the pupil to remain in school would seriously harm the education or welfare of the pupil or others such as staff or pupils in the school.

For any permanent exclusion, headteachers should take reasonable steps to ensure that work is set and marked for pupils during the first five school days where the pupil will not be attending alternative provision. Any appropriate referrals to support services or notifying key workers (such as a pupil's social worker) should also be considered.

Permanent exclusion will only to be used as a last resort. The headteacher will liaises with the LA and the parents of a permanently excluded pupil to arrange alternative provision to minimise any breaks in education, and the governing body will meet to discuss reinstatement within 15 school days. Where the pupil's reinstatement is declined, parents have 25 school days to apply for a review of this decision before the school deletes the name of a permanently excluded pupil from their admissions register.

The headteachers may cancel an exclusion that has not been reviewed by the governing board. This practice is sometimes known as withdrawing/rescinding a suspension or permanent exclusion.

• If this occurs, parents, the governing board and the local authority will be notified, and if relevant, the social worker and VSH.

- When the headteacher suspend or permanently exclude a pupil they will, without delay, notify parents. Legislative changes mean that if a pupil has a social worker, or if a pupil is looked-after, the headteacher must now, also without delay after their decision, notify the social worker and/or VSH, as applicable.
- When headteachers suspend or permanently exclude a pupil, they will also notify the local authority, without delay. Legislative changes mean that this must be done regardless of the length of a suspension.

18. Suspending and excluding Pupils with disabilities and Special Educational Needs (SEN) including those with Education, Health and Care plans (EHC plans).

The Equality Act 2010 requires schools to make reasonable adjustments for disabled pupils. This duty can, in principle, apply both to the suspensions and permanent exclusions process and to the disciplinary sanctions imposed. Under the Children and Families Act 2014, governing boards of relevant setting must use their 'best endeavours' to ensure the appropriate special educational provision is made for pupils with SEN, which will include any support in relation to behaviour management that they need because of their SEN.

- Glenmere will engage proactively with parents in supporting the behaviour of pupils with additional needs.
- Where we have concerns about the behaviour, or risk of suspension and permanent exclusion, of a pupil with SEN, a disability or an EHC plan we will, in partnership with others (including where relevant, the local authority), consider what additional support or alternative placement may be required. This should involve assessing the suitability of provision for a pupil's SEN or disability.
- Where a pupil has an EHC plan, we will contact the local authority about any behavioural concerns at an early stage and consider requesting an early annual review
- Prior to making the decision to suspend or permanently exclude. For those with SEN but without an EHC plan, the school should review, with external specialists as appropriate, whether the current support arrangements are appropriate and what changes may be required. This may provide a point for schools to request an EHC assessment or a review of the pupil's current package of support.

19. Pupils who have a social worker, including looked-after children, and previously looked-after children that are at risk of suspension or exclusion.

Where a pupil has a social worker, e.g. because they are the subject of a Child in Need Plan or a Child Protection Plan, and they are at risk of suspension or permanent

exclusion, the headteacher should inform their social worker, the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) and the pupil's parents to involve them all as early as possible in relevant conversations.

Where a looked-after child (LAC) is likely to be subject to a suspension or permanent exclusion, the Designated Teacher (DT) should contact the local authority's VSH as soon as possible. The VSH, working with the DT and others, should consider what additional assessment and support need to be put in place to help the school address the factors affecting the child's behaviour and reduce the need for suspension or permanent exclusion.

Where relevant, the school should also engage with a child's social worker, foster carers, or children's home workers.

All looked-after children should have a Personal Education Plan (PEP) which is part of the child's care plan or detention placement plan.

This should be reviewed every term and any concerns about the pupil's behaviour should be recorded, as well as how the pupil is being supported to improve their behaviour and reduce the likelihood of exclusion. Monitoring of PEPs can be an effective way for VSHs to check on this.

20.Pupil Transition

To ensure a smooth transition to the next year and/or school settings, pupils have transition sessions with their new teacher(s). In addition, staff members hold transition meetings. To ensure behaviour is continually monitored and the right support is in place, information related to pupil behaviour issues may be transferred to relevant staff at the start of the term or year. Information on behaviour issues may also be shared with new settings for those pupils transferring to other schools.

21.Staff Development and Support

Our staff are provided with training on managing behaviour and positive behaviour management strategies. The behavior policy is covered with all staff annually.

22.Record Keeping and Monitoring

A record of behaviour incidents that result in a yellow or red card will be kept by the Head teacher and the cards will go home to inform parents. All incidents will be reported on CPOMS, Regular checks will be made for patterns and frequency of incidents and attentionpaid to disability, special needs, gender or cultural background. This will be reported to governors termly in the Head teacher's written report. Any concerns about behaviour in theschool will also be raised in the termly curriculum meetings.

23.Monitoring and Review

This policy will be reviewed by the headteacher and mental health lead on an annual basis, who will make any necessary changes and communicate these to all members of staff.

This policy will be made available for OFSTED inspections and review by the chief inspector, upon request.

The next scheduled review date for this policy is July 24.